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This book is dedicated to my friend and mentor.

Robert “Shorty” Moore

From:  My photo collection
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Introduction

As mentioned in the acknowledgment, this book is the result of keeping a log of
the construction and building of an experimental amphibian seaplane. It was a dream of
two Pittsburgh aviation pioneers,  D. Barr Peat and Kenneth “Curly” Lovejoy.  They
had the financial backing of a Pittsburgh industrailist, H.J. Heinz II. (Figure 1, Page 6)
The building of this seaplane was started in 1944 in a garage owned and operated by a
well known aircraft, marine and auto mechanic, Steven J. Kohut, located at 17th and
McClure Streets, Homestead, Pa..

They had no drawings or blueprints for this seaplane project. They made use of
a wrecked 1938 Taylorcraft airplane. Due to the war there was a shortage of critical
materials. It was very clever how they rearranged the parts and tried to keep the same
dimensions. They, however, did not do very well keeping the same weight. Still, it was
a great achievement, to be able to make a tractor type airplane into a pusher type air-
plane without drawings or blueprints.

 The only construction drawings or blueprints for this seaplane project were
made by me about a month after the official test flight. I made these to build solid
models of this experimental seaplane. They were made for D. Barr Peat , Curly
Lovejoy and H.J. Heinz II.  One of these models ended up at a display at the  Greater
Pittsburgh Airport and in Clifford Ball’s office at the Greater Pittsburgh Airport. It was
returned to me by a member of the Aero Club to be refinished, and  I refinished and
remounted it in 1967. It was redone again in 2005. (Figures 2 & 3, Page 7)

 Eventually this seaplane met the same fate that befell many light aircraft after the
war. The aircraft market was flooded with all metal airplanes such as the Ercoupe,
Beechcraft Bonanza, Cessna, Navion and, of course, the Republic Seabee.

In 1955 Taylorcraft designed and built a four place model using a fiberglass
outer shell. It was a slick looking airplane. They built a plant in Conway, PA., but by
the time they had resolved their manufacturing and certification problems the economy
made a downturn. Taylorcraft was ahead of their time with composite construction in
the aircraft industry. General Motors came out with the Corvette.
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Figure 1

Kenneth  “Curly” Lovejoy                          H. J. Heinz  II

               Curly Lovejoy  and  Mr. H.J. Heinz looking over artist sketches
            of various seaplane configurations. They discarded them, according
               to D. Barr Peat, in favor of a wrecked 1938 Taylorcraft because
                     there was a shortage of materials for building airplanes.

The photograph below is from the “Libary and Archives Division,
Historical Society of Western Pennsylvania, Pittsburgh, PA.”



Figure 2

Figure 3

From: My photo collection
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Model of the Curlycraft



Introduction to Kenneth “Curly” LoveJoy

        On October 13th 1945, Shorty Moore and I attended the International Gas Model
Airplane Association (IGMAA) banquet held at the YMCA in downtown Pittsburgh.
(Figures 4 and 5, Page 9 - Copy of the original program and menu). I really enjoyed
these meetings and banquets, because they always had excellent programs.  The two of
us arrived early so we could socialize with other members like Kenny Scholter. Kenny
was a member and a great booster of the IGMAA. As base operator of the Pittsburgh-
Butler Airport he, allowed the IGMAA to hold flying model airplane meets at the far
end of the field on weekends. (Figures 6, 7 and 8, Page 10 - photographs of the model
airplane contest meet at Butler field.)

 Max Heppenstal  was also a  IGMAA  member and booster. He would give the
members rides in his Staggerwing Beechcraft and would work as an official at the
model airplane field. I was working on a solid model of his airplane and bringing him
up to date on his model when Harry “Pop” Vogler interrupted our conversation to tell
me that Shorty Moore wanted to introduce me to someone. That someone happened
to be Kenneth “Curly” Lovejoy. He explained his seaplane project and asked if I would
work with Shorty Moore on his project. (Figure 9, Page 11- Curly Lovejoy at the Pitts-
burgh Press Air Show in 1938 at the Allegheny County Airport).

  Curly Lovejoy had asked Pop Vogler if he could recommend some local air-
craft builders. He invited Curly Lovejoy to this IGMAA banquet as a speaker and to
meet some of its members. (Figures 4 and 5, Page 9 - look at the guest list of speakers
on the copy of the program).  (Figure 10 Page 11- photo of PopVogler, Shorty Moore
and me).

          I will always be grateful to Robert “Shorty” Moore for asking me to be part of
that great aviation project. It afforded me the opportunity to meet many Pittsburgh
aviation pioneers, which I had seen at the Allegheny County Airport and Bettis Field. I
have many fond memories of the air shows held at those airports, especially the Pitts-
burgh Press Air Shows. My buddies and I would ride our bicycles to watch the mail
plane drop the mail and make a pickup at a site above Wilkinsburg.
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Figure 5

         Page 9

A copy of the original  program for the  IGMAA 1945 fall banquet.

I still have the original program.

                       Figure 4



Model flying field at Pittsburgh-Butler Airport
August 1945

Fig.ure 6

Figure 7

Fig. 8
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Official’s  Tent

Registration and weigh-in

Shorty and I helping a contestant
   to get his engine running for
          a ground take-off

Engine stopped running.
     Well, try it again.

The plywood ramp is for
      ground take-off
R.O.G. (rise off ground)

                                           Figure 8

From: My collection
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    Figure 9

Kenneth “Curly” Lovejoy

  1938  Pittsburgh Press Air Show

      Curly and his Curtiss Pusher

Photo from E.L. Shryock’s collection

           Harry “Pop” Vogler    Robert “Shorty” Moore    Don “Curly” Shumaker

                    September 1945 Pittsburgh - Butler Airport Model Airplane Field

From: My Photo collection

Figure 10



              Starting the Lovejoy Project

  Tuesday, October 16th 1945 after  meeting  Kenneth “Curly” Lovejoy,  Shorty
Moore and I went to a garage in  Braddock to meet Steve Kohut and to start working
on the seaplane. The garage was owned and operated by Matta Motors and was not
currently in service due to the war. On the second floor was a fabricating shop operated
by William Matta, who manufactured aircraft seat and frames for the U.S. Navy.

Our first day consisted of cleaning up and sorting out usable parts. We moved
the floats and fuselage to the center of the shop.(Figures 11 and 12 - Page 13 - shows
the cut up fuselage mounted to the floats) The seaplane was assembled with wings,
booms and tail assembly at Steve Kohut’s  garage and it was dismantled for moving.
(Figures 13 and 14, Pages 14 and 15)

Shorty was under the impression that all we had to do was cover the seaplane.
with fabric. If you look at the photographs in Figures 13 and 14 that was not the case.
Curly said they used an old wrecked Taylorcraft to make this seaplane. This gave
Shorty the idea he was looking at a couple of weeks of work.

 The  fuselage was cut at the firewall to remove the engine mount so they could
mount  it in the rear. Curly decided that he wanted a pusher type seaplane since he was
fond of the Curtiss Pusher he once owned. He felt it would be great for docking and
would not be so hard on the propeller or the deck hands.

 From the photos in Figures 13 and 14:  you can see the configuration of the
design that Curly wanted. The seaplane has a twin boom for the tail assembly and the
rear of the fuselage has a bobtail. The fuselage wings attachment points were removed
and moved to a pylon. The engine mount was also moved to the pylon. Curly had
mentioned that he wanted the center line of engine thrust along the center line of the
wing cord, to eliminate pitch change with throttle change.
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Figure 12
At Matta Motors

This photo was taken at Steve Kohut’s garage.
It  was dismantled for trucking to Matta Motors

Figure 11

Rita Kohut Stone’s collection

Photo by: Shorty Moore



Figure 13

Another photo from Rita Kohut Stone’s collection:
The Taylorcraft fuselage was mounted to the floats.

They had cut and re-arranged the parts.
This was done at Steve Kohut’s Garage in 1944.

It was dismantled for moving,

Page 14



Page 15

From: Rita Kohut Stone collection

Figure 14

Note the extra wing panel.
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Later in the day Curly showed up and we spent most of day talking about what
he wanted us to work on.  The next day everybody was at the garage early and we split
up into two teams. Steve and Shorty went to work on beefing up the pylon and the
engine mount. Curly Lovejoy and I went to work on the fuselage. If you look at Figure
13 on page 14 you can see the disarray of the cockpit. Curly suggested we straighten
the seat pad so  we had a place to sit while working in the cockpit. We removed the
throttle and throttle cable , tachometer and temperature gauges. The control wheel and
rudder pedals were still in place. I took out control cable pulleys, one at a time, and
cleaned them and made sure they worked smoothly and then re-installed them.

The next day Curly and I worked on the front of the fuselage. He used an old
fifty five  gallon oil drum to shape the tubing for the nose and I tacked them in place.
When  we had finished the nose, Curly made a comment that it looked like an airship
from the front. While Steve finished the welds on the nose, Shorty and I worked on
cutting tubing and bending it for the pylon and bobtail. We used small diameter tubing
for fairing in the fuselage because we did not have wood nor any means to cut.

  We were about to go home when D. Barr Peat showed up. This is the first time
Shorty and I  had the pleasure of meeting him. He was a big, friendly guy who was
impressed with our work and shop area and the progress on the seaplane. He had
suggested to Curly Lovejoy that they find a place to finish the seaplane project because
it was interfering with Steve Kohut’s auto repair business. With the seaplane completely
assembled there was no room for Steve to work indoors on his auto repairs.Steve said
he needed help to speed up the seaplane project.

The next day Shorty and I spent most of the day cutting and bending tubing for
Steve to weld. Steve said he had to leave early and wanted Shorty and me to get the
wings ready to be re-covered. We removed all the old fabric, repaired the leading and
trailing edges and the wing tips. The wings had a lot of dings and dents but were in
good condition for a plane that was wrecked and had been handled a lot and stored in
and out of hangers. We needed to repair a few ribs and a wing tip, but the wing spars
were in excellent condition.
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The work on the fuselage continued  to  be slow.  With only one welding system
to use, Curly asked D. Barr Peat to locate another gas welding system. With this, we
began to make real progress on the fuselage. With most of the welding done on the
fuselage,  Curly suggested we get ready to reinstall the engine as it was removed to
truck it to this shop. Keeping up with our strategy of reusing the existing parts. I had to
clean up the engine rubber mounts and the bolts and nuts, because there was still a
shortage of these materials.

   The following day the engine was lifted in place and bolted. The nuts were
checked and cotter-pinned. Now we could spend some time admiring the project
because it really looked like a seaplane. Curly and I worked on the fuel lines to the
wing tanks, to the mounting of the gasolator and the location of the fuel shut-off valve.
While I was working on mounting the gasolator and the shut-off valve,  Curly was
working on the design and the location of the throttle assembly. He made a pencil
sketch of what he wanted. Shorty and I went upstairs to Matta’s shop and built the
throttle assembly. Then, of course, we had to mount it. It ended up being mounted
overhead like an automobile rear view mirror, which, according to Curly, was like the
ones used in airships and large transports. I sat in the cockpit and tried it out and it was
different from anything I had ever seen.

As Curly and Shorty worked on a design of the sliding canopy, I went about
making a panel to hold the tachometer and the temperature gauge. It would be mounted
in the pylon area behind the seat right of the pilot. Although he would have to turn
around to read these gauges he felt it would work until he got longer cables. The other
instruments would be the same as the original Taylorcraft instrument panel. Curly sat
in the cockpit to pick the right location for this temporary instrument panel. I mounted
the instruments into this panel and bolted it into place and connected the tachometer
cable and the temperature probe cable. We had to keep in mind that this was only a
temporary instrument panel and could be easily removed and re-installed the instru-
ments into the original Taylorcraft instrument panel.



The next project was the sliding canopy. Curly and Shorty had made a draw-
ing which was very ingenious. It made use of the odd sizes of Plexiglass® panels we
had, and had all flat surfaces because we had no way to form the Plexiglass® , the only
curve was made with aluminum so as to give the Plexiglass® the needed support.

 The track for the sliding canopy was a different story. We had to wait for
D. Barr Peat to bring us some channel to make the track.  D Barr Peat was a wizard in
finding materials, some  of these material of course come from H.J.Heinz Company
Glider Division. Most of these materials were odd sizes tubing, fabric and Plexiglass®.
While we waited for the aluminum channel, Shorty and Curly worked on the windshield
installation. Steve and I worked on the metal grill for the air intake at the pylon.using
perforated expanded metal that had diamond shaped holes. The interesting thing about
this material is that you can bend it, stretch and shrink it. We cut two pieces and
aligned the diamonds so they matched up, holding them in place We used safety wire
until we welded it. This task was completed quickly and it looked like a factory job,
according to Steve Kohut.

When Barr Peat showed up with the needed materials, Curly,  D. Barr and Steve
worked on the sliding canopy track, while Shorty and I worked on the wiring. We used
the old wiring and switches from the Taylorcraft. I made a simple  schematic since the
plane had no electric starter, generator, battery or lights. I decided to use the point- to -
point wiring beginning with the magneto switch. Steve looked over and checked the
wiring and he made some recommendations on rerouting the wires to relieve strain on
the wiring harness. With this completed, Shorty and I laced up the wiring and added
support clamps where they were needed.

Steve suggested everybody look over the fuselage to see if we missed anything
such as tack welds that were not welded and check all attachment points. We all agreed
the fuselage was ready for the fabric covering.

Page 18



Shorty and I had started to measure for fabric to cover the booms, Curly had
arrived and was looking over the booms, one of which was bent when they moved it
from Steve’s garage. We had to straighten it and Curly decided he wanted more offset
in the vertical fin. I had been picked for the task of removing the vertical fins because
of my previous experience.The procedure was to cut it first with a hacksaw then file
the excess off without damaging the support tubing. Then I used emery cloth to polish
and remove any trace  of the old weld. Meanwhile, Curly and Shorty were figuring out
the offset. Shorty had his bag of tricks, containing  level,  protractor,  straight edge
and clamps. Curly had noticed Shorty’s notes titled “The Curlycraft” which made
Curly smile. From then on we referred to the project as the Curlycraft. I held the verti-
cal fin in position while  Shorty tacked it  in place.  After that, both vertical fins were
checked for offset and the welds were completed, cleaned and primed.

  This tail offset incident reminded Curly to share a story with us about trans-
porting B 24 Liberator Bombers for the Air Transport Command. When these airplanes
were not rigged properly they were all over the sky and very hard to trim. (Figure 15,
page 20 - Kenneth Curly Lovejoy in his Air Transport Command uniform)

Shorty and I made a bill of material for covering the job such as dope, aluminum
powder, rib tape. roll of lacing cord and rolls of pinking tape. This list was given to
Barr Peat. He said he would be back later in the day.

Shorty made sketches of the covering envelopes for the wings, booms, vertical
fins, rudders, horizontal stabilizer and the elevator. Late in the day Barr Peat showed up
with the fabric for covering the seaplane. He gave Shorty and me a ride home since  we
could not use a trolley to haul the fabric I was to take home to sew on my mother’s
sewing machine.

Shorty helped to lay out and cut the fabric for making the envelopes. But the
fabric was a lot of odd sizes and shapes and it was like working on a jigsaw puzzle. It
required a lot of planning to have the seams at the right places. My mother, who was a
great seamstress, showed us how to get a straight seam and a neat French fold. Even
with all this expertise, it required 2 days to complete.
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Captain Kenneth “Curly” Lovejoy in his ATC uniform

(Kenneth “Curly” Lovejoy’s sister)

This Photo was supplied by:  Mrs. Joseph G. Horne

Figure 15



Curly and Shorty decided to redesign the metal brackets for holding the booms
to the wing spare. I went upstairs to Matta’s shop to make these brackets. As was
typical, finding the right bolts and nuts  for this job was a problem and it took a couple
of  days for  Barr Peat to find them. Then we mounted the two boom brackets to the
wing spar and safety wired and checked the wings which were now ready for covering.
The wing covering envelope fit like a glove. The rib stitching, however, was time con-
suming. Shorty and I stabbed ourselves and each other until we got the hang of it.
While we had the wings hanging up, we decided to layout and paint the aircraft regis-
tration number,  NX41859.

  Shorty decided to cover the fuselage next. We started on the bottom of the
fuselage. That completed, we started to cut material for the sides, at which time  Shorty
realized that we needed some curved needles. We made these out of welding rods,
heating one end and hammering it flat, then drilled a hole in the flat end and bending as
needed. These were used to lace the fabric to the tubing. It was a difficult job fitting the
fabric around the pylon. It had so many different types of  curves and we wanted to do
it all with one piece of covering material. Shorty’s experience  in fabric covering really
paid off and he sure made it look easy. The next day we started to cover the other side.
That completed, Shorty, Curly and I applied clear dope on the fabric. We stayed late to
finish that, but did not stay any longer than we had to because the fumes were getting
to us.

Covering the tail surfaces and the booms was awkward. They were too big for
our work bench, and we had to make some saw horses. The envelope for the horizon-
tal stabilizer did not work very well, so Shorty decided not to use it. Even with all this
difficulty it turned out fine. The elevator and the rudders did not take an envelope and
as a result did not take long to complete. The booms were next. We set the booms on
the saw horses to get ready for covering. We  looked them over and decided to pull the
control cables through the booms, being easier to do before we covered them. Each
boom needed 4 cables, 2 for the rudder and 2 for the elevator.The control cables were
then secured at each end.
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 The next day we started to cover the booms.  Curly showed up and suggested
that we install more control cable support. After we made and installed those, the
booms were ready for covering. The envelope was difficult to slide over the boom,
possibly because it was a little tight, so we tried the other envelope which went on
much easier. With this one done, we started on the other boom. This one was also a
struggle, because the booms were not welded in a fixture and  varied in sizes. After
completing all the fabric covering, the parts were painted with a clear coat of dope.

 Steve showed up the next morning and was very pleased with our covering job.
He suggested we get ready to paint the fuselage, wings, tail assembly and booms, and
helped us mask up the plane. He had thought ahead and  bought tape,  newspaper  and
a big fan from his shop. Steve also showed Shorty and me how to mix the aluminum
powder with clear dope and how to operate his spray gun.We had to use a brush to
apply the paint on the bottom of the fuselage because there was not enough room to
operate a spray gun. I started on one end, Shorty on the other and it did not take long
to complete. Then we started on the rest of the plane. Everything was going great so
we decided not to take time for lunch. When Shorty would operate the spray gun, I
would mix up the next batch of paint. We took turns painting and mixing paint and
when  everything was  painted, we cleaned up the equipment and went for a late lunch.
Upon our return, Steve and Curly had most of the masking tape and paper removed
and it looked great. Steve looked around for the nose bowl and the top engine cowl
from the old Taylorcraft. He said we would work on it on Monday.

Monday, when Shorty and I arrived, Steve was working on the cowling for the
top of the engine. With a wooden mallet and a wooden ball he was reshaping the alumi-
num cowl. Shorty and I did not help Steve very much because we were busy watching
him. We had never seen anybody work aluminum like he did. After he welded the
cracks, I filed and sanded the welds. Shorty relocated and mounted the  fastening
devices. Steve had repeated this procedure with lower cowling. With this work com-
pleted, they were ready for painting. We mounted them on the plane and it was virtually
a perfect fit.
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It looks like a seaplane, and not an air boat

Now all the parts were ready for the final assembly of the seaplane. The work
seemed to go faster during the last couple of days since everyone knew what had to
be done or maybe it was the excitement knowing we were getting to this part of the
project. We were all coming in early every day and working longer hours. That was
becoming hard on Steve and his business. After helping us he went to his garage and
worked until 1:00 or 2:00 in the morning and returning to the project early the same day.

 Curly wanted us to begin by putting the wings on the seaplane. We sorted out
all the bolts,  nuts, and  fittings for installing the wings earlier.  The seaplane had to be
moved and this was a difficult task because it had no wheels and we had no dollies.
Making this move had to make use of  the overhead steel beams. The men from
Matta’s shop upstairs were a great help moving the plane. They helped us to lift the
wings up until Steve bolted them into place. We then used rope to hold them up until
we installed the wing struts.

With the wings bolted in place and the struts installed,  we moved the booms in
place to get ready for Steve to do the installation. Steve was picked for this job be-
cause he was the tallest. We had to make sure the booms were in correct order because
of the offset in the vertical fins. With Steve standing on the floats, Curly, Shorty and I
used rope to lift the boom up for Steve to install the bolts. We repeated that procedure
for the other boom. Again, rope was used to hold up the booms until we installed the
braces. A platform was made for Shorty and me to work on the wings, which we used
to install the horizontal stabilizer, elevator, rudders and the braces that went from the
booms to the fuselage for support.

Curly decided he wanted some adjustment in these braces.  I cut off some of the
braces so  I could insert a piece of tubing inside  the brace tubing. I drilled holes at 1
inch intervals into the tubing to give the needed adjustments. I did the same with the
other brace. With the braces made we were ready to install the horizontal stabilizer.
This took all of us to hold it up and bolt it in place. Next up were the rudders and the
elevator. Which went without any problems. Curly and Steve moved and twisted the
tail assembly and they decided it needed more bracing and support. The new braces
went from the horizontal stabilizer to the main support braces. Curly and Steve
checked the tail assembly and decided it had sufficient support.
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                                     Do you believe that we get paid for this?

            Curly and Steve went out to lunch while Shorty and I stayed and ate our lunch
sitting in the seaplane. This would be the last time we sat in the seaplane, we actually
never had a ride in the seaplane. Looking back, I remember that day vividly. The
Curlycraft was similar to the Ercoupe ®,  that you stood on the floats or the wings then
stepped onto the seat before putting your feet onto the floor and sitting down. It had
dual control wheels and, of course, rudder pedals.

 When Curly and Steve returned from lunch, Curly suggested we clean up the
shop, since Mr. H.J. Heinz had mentioned he would stop by if he had time. We even
swept the floor! We mounted the propeller with a couple of bolts, just for appearance.
We sat around admiring our work and talking when Curly mentioned he had owned a
1934 a Sikorsky® amphibian and Mr. Heinz liked flying it. (Figure 16 Page 25)  He also
had flown Savoia®. (Figure 17 Page 25) Steve left to go to his garage when Mr. Heinz
came into the shop. He walked over to the seaplane and was impressed with the
progress we had made. Curly introduced  Mr. Heinz to Shorty Moore. I had met Mr.
Heinz previously when I would go to his office for our pay or to scrounge for parts
and supplies at the Heinz Glider division.

        This was the first time Mr. Heinz had actually seen the seaplane and he walked all
around it asking questions, including when were we going to start on a 4 place model.
Curly replied that we had to get this one right first. Curly had Mr. Heinz sit in the sea-
plane. He liked the throttle location and the sliding canopy and was impressed with
how smoothly and quietly it worked. Curly sat in the plane with Mr. Heinz and  Shorty
heard Mr. Heinz say  “This is like old times.” Curly was  Mr. and  Mrs. Heinz’s flight
instructor and sometime pilot. Mr. Heinz then asked when would we be flying this
seaplane.  Curly replied that, after we did the weight and balance it would be dis-
mantled and moved to  Buck’s  Seaplane  Base in a couple of days.

 Shorty then suggested we go home and let these old friends talk. We had our
day in.
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Figure 16
Curly’s  1934 Sikorsky® Amphibian

Photos from: E.L. Shryock collection

Figure 17
Savoia-Machette®

Kinner B5- 125 hp engine
Curly flew air mail from downtown Pittsburgh
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Next day, nobody was in the shop when Shorty and I arrived. I went upstairs to
Matta’s shop to get my tool box; I stored it there because we had no security in our
shop and my tool box was too heavy to carry on the trolley every day. When I re-
turned to our shop Curly and Steve were there. They had gone out for breakfast and
brought back coffee and donuts for Shorty and me. Curly thanked us for the work we
had done to make Mr. Heinz’s visit successful. He told us Mr. Heinz was impressed
with the work we had done on the seaplane and that he stayed for several hours.

D.Barr Peat showed up with the Aircraft Registration Certificate NO. 41859
and Operation Limitations Certificate. We all looked it over and Shorty mounted it in
the original certificate holder in the plane cockpit. (Figure 18 Page 27- a copy of the
original aircraft registration certificate)

Curly said it was time  to get to work on the weight and balance. I was not in on
this process. Steve wanted me to work on and sort out control cables and clean up the
turnbuckles, clevises and clevise pins. I put them all in a box and carried it upstairs to
Matta’s shop to use their solvent tank and buffing wheels. I spent most of the day in
their shop and ate my lunch with guys in the shop. The guys were teasing me about
being the test pilot;  I told them I was taking some float time on the weekends. Mr.
Matta wanted to know if  I wanted a job when the seaplane was completed. I told him I
was going back to school in the spring. When I had finished the cables I returned to
our shop. Curly, Barr, Steve, and  Shorty were just completing the weight and balance.
Steve was very pleased with the way the control cables turned out.

I was brought up to date on the weight and balance by Shorty on our way home
that night, first they had to begin by estimating the weight because they had no scales
to weigh the plane. The estimated weight was from Taylorcraft specifications with
EDO floats and it specified 1250 pounds. Shorty Moore believed the plane  was more
like 1350-1400 pounds because of the over-design and building of the booms, pylon
and the engine mount. The balance was within specifications.

The next two days were spent dismantling the seaplane and crating up the parts
for trucking to Buck’s Seaplane Base on the  Allegheny River on the  north side of
Pittsburgh. (Figure 19 Page 27- photograph of Buck’s Seaplane Base)
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Figure 18
Rita Kohut Stone collection

Figure 19

From: My photo collection

Bucks Seaplane Base
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  When the seaplane arrived at Buck’s Seaplane Base,  Al Buck had his
mechanics assemble the seaplane and rig the control cables to prepare for the official
test flight. Curly and Steve wanted all of us to assemble the seaplane, but  Al Buck
wanted no part of that. After all, it was his operation.

On Wednesday, November 28, 1945,  I was working in downtown Pittsburgh
and at lunch time I walked over to Buck’s Seaplane base to see how the seaplane was
coming along. The seaplane was in the water and tied to the dock. Curly just com-
pleted some taxi runs and had some heating problems along with control cable slack.
Curly was upset because he had been waiting half a day for someone to work on the
plane. I had to get back to work and could not wait to see the outcome.

  I had made arrangements at work to take the afternoon off on Monday, Decem-
ber 3, 1945. I  had called Curly to make sure he was going to be at the seaplane base.
When I arrived, he was getting ready to do some high speed taxiing. They had trouble
starting the engine, which smelled as though it was flooded.  The  65 horsepower
engine had no electric starter and had to be hand propped. This was definitely a bal-
ancing act, standing on the floats and pulling the prop through. One had the potential
hazard of falling into the river or getting clubbed by the propeller, or both. They finally
got the engine running,  after warm-up.  Curly made several high speed test runs. I
noticed the plane would not break from the water and it had taken a very long run to
get up on step. Curly  knew the seaplane was too heavy or underpowered,  which
Robert “Shorty” Moore had also suspected. Curly made the approach for docking.
(Figure 20, Page 30)

  I walked down to meet him.  He informed me they had solved the overheating
problem by changing the baffling in the pylon and made some adjustments to the con-
trol cables to reduce slack. Curly  had mentioned the seaplane had the same fell and
response as the  Taylorcraft.  Curly  said the seaplane was ready for the official test
flight.  He offered me a ride home and asked if I was coming to the official test flight.
I said  I would not miss it. We stopped for lunch and he talked about the changes he
would like to do on the seaplane:  larger engine,  floats with retractable landing gears
and streamline the fuselage.  He then asked if Shorty and I would be interested in work-
ing on the seaplane next spring. I found out later on that very little work was done on
the Curlycraft seaplane in 1946, outside of taxiing tests and short flight tests.
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The big day had arrived

 On  Monday,  December 3,  I received from the Pittsburgh Aero Club an
invitation to the official test flight, weather permitting, of Curly Lovejoy’s seaplane on
December 6th.  I have the original post card. (Figure 21, Page 30)

The Pittsburgh Press had an article on Wednesday December 5th, 1945 about
the test flight of Curly Lovejoy’s seaplane the construction process, and the men
involved.(Figure 22, Page 31- a copy of the article). My name and  Steve Kohut’s was
mentioned, but  Robert “Shorty” Moore had been omitted in the story. I felt terrible
about Shorty Moore not being recognized in this article, because Shorty Moore had
the most knowledge of aircraft design and construction on this project.(Figure 23,
Page 32 - this photograph was taken by the Pittsburgh Press for this above article)

      Thursday, December 6th, 1945, at the Pittsburgh Aero Club luncheon, D. Barr Peat
made a presentation of the CurlyCraft seaplane and invited members and guests to
assemble at Buck’s Seaplane Base to watch the official test flight. (Figure 24, Page 33)
 I did not go to the luncheon because I had to work that morning. When I arrived at the
seaplane base Curly’s seaplane was tied to the dock. Curly and the Aero club members
were arriving in small groups. When all of the members that were coming to the official
test flight had arrived it was late in the afternoon. Al Buck’s mechanics had started the
engine and signaled the engine was warmed up and ready to go. Curly got into the
seaplane and taxied up river. (Figure 25, Page 34)  After turning around, he came down
in the middle of  the river when he passed the seaplane base. The seaplane was up on
step and went well below us before it broke from the water and climbed to about 60 -
80 feet or more. The actual height depended on whom you talked to.( Figure 26,  Page
34 -  photo of the seaplane in flight)  Curly touched down about a mile or more down
stream and taxied back to the seaplane base. This was an experimental airplane and
was restricted from flying over a densely populated area.

The rest of the day was spent taking pictures and socializing with club members.
(Figure 27, Page 35) The Curlycraft was pulled out of the water. Curly had flown the
seaplane after the  official test flight, weather permitting. After the winter set in, the
Curlycraft was stored until Spring.
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Figure 20
Monday December 3, 1945

Curlycraft docking after taxiing test.
Buck’s Seaplane Base Downtown Pittsburgh,Pa.

Figure 21
Post Card from Pittsburgh Aero Club received December 3, 1945

Photograph from Pittsburgh Sun-Telegraph



Figure 22

Page 31

      Pittsburgh Press
December 5,1945
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Figure 23

Pittsburgh Press photo December 4th  1945

Left to Right

Kenneth Curly Lovejoy        Steve Kohut      D. Barr Peat

Sitting in the seaplane: David Peat



Pittsburgh Aero Club meeting December 6th 1945

Photo by  Swoger

     Left to Right

 Unknown         D. Barr Peat         Clifford Ball     Curly Lovejoy     Steve Kohut

Page 33

Figure 24



Figure 25
Curly taxiing up river for official test flight on December 6th 1945

Pittsburgh Press photo

Figure 26
Official test flight
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Rita Kohut Stone Collection
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Figure 27

Photo was taken after official test flight

Sitting in the seaplane left to right are David Peat and Kenneth” Curly” Lovejoy

Standing left to right are

Clifford Ball        D. Barr Peat     Steven J. Kohut

Page 35



Page 36

         Robert “Shorty” Moore  had to go to Columbus, Ohio and missed the test flight
because his uncle had died. This was his extended family that he had lived with while
attending Ohio State.  When he returned to  Pittsburgh he called me and asked if  I
wanted to go with him to  Buck’s Seaplane Base to see  Curly Lovejoy and the  sea-
plane. I met  Shorty at the seaplane base on my lunch hour. It was a mild day for De-
cember.  The Curlycraft was tied to the dock with the motor running. Curly and a
gentleman were in the plane. They taxied up river and turned around and came down
river. The seaplane was up on step. I was sure they would take off; They did this
several times. I believed the reason they did not get airborne was the plane had an
experimental registration and no passenger rides. Maybe the plane was too heavy with
a second person in the plane. I had to get back to work and Shorty Moore  stayed to
talk to Curly Lovejoy. When Shorty Moore came over to see me, I was working at a
department store hobby shop putting on demonstrations for Plastic Wood ®  using
their products for model building.(Figure 28 & 29, Page 37) Shorty gave me a ride
home and we had dinner and he told me that he wanted to see the seaplane fly. Curly
had told Shorty that he was pleased with the seaplane performances and was anxious
for the installation of a larger engine.
           In our discussion about the project  Shorty said we had worked a few days less
than a whole month and had almost 200 hours each. Shorty said the rush was to have
the seaplane ready for the test flight for the Pittsburgh Aero Club meeting on December
6, 1945. Why it took so long for our part of the project was that they had no plans or
blueprints. Most of the time we had to do the tasks twice and wait for materials. Most
days, Shorty and I were the only ones working on the seaplane. This all changed when
we got closer to the test flight date. Everybody showed up almost every day and we
had worked longer days.
        When Spring arrived in 1946 the Curlycraft arrived at the Highland Seaplane Base
in Aspinwall on the Allegheny River a short distance from Buck’s Seaplane Base in
downtown Pittsburgh. How did it get there? By truck or was it flown?  I do not know.
The reason for moving up the river was that the area was less populated. The flight
testing continued till late spring. (Figure 30, Page 38 - Curly standing by his seaplane;
Figure 31, Page 38 - Curly taking a friend for a taxi ride)

I had talked with Curly Lovejoy on several occasions in 1946 and asked how the
seaplane was coming along and he said they had ordered a Continental C85-12J engine
and located a set of EDO floats with retractable landing gears. Another problem was
deciding what  retractable nose landing gear to use and locate it. On one of these
occasions Curly Lovejoy said that he wanted to get all of this done before winter.



Figure 28

Figure 29
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Figure 30

Figure 31
Curly and Friend
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Rita Kohut Stone Collection

Kenneth “Curly” Lovejoy
At

Highland Seaplane Base



On Wednesday, February 12, 1947 Kenneth “Curly” Lovejoy

died and so did his beloved Dream
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Figure 32

Pittsburgh Press



Figure  33
Pittsburgh Sun Telegraph
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The second phase of the sea plane project

Kenneth “Curly” Lovejoy’s Dream Boat (Curlycraft) project was continued by
his good friends, D. Barr Peat and Steven J. Kohut, with Mr. H.J. Heinz II still backing
this project. The seaplane was dismantled and trucked to Steve Kohut’s garage.

In Fall of 1947 I had stopped by Steve Kohut’s garage in Homestead. I wanted
to see if any progress was being made on the seaplane. As I turned into his driveway I
spotted the plane on the roof of his garage. I talked to Steve and he said he was storing
the seaplane there until he located a  nose gear and had time to work on the plane.

(Figure 34, Page 43 - In this photo, you can see they had removed the fabric
from the front of the fuselage to install the retractable nose gear, and they installed the
floats with retractable landing gear) The new and larger Continental C85-12J engine was
installed. This engine was fuel injected. The injection system was made by Ex-Cello
Corporation and Continental used this fuel injected system for a few years. With this
new engine they had to make a new engine cowling and this would take care of any
engine cooling problems. (Figure 38, Page 45)

In May 1948,  I visited Steve Kohut’s shop in Homestead. They had completed
the installation of the retractable landing gears. The seaplane was up on blocks. Steve
had operated the landing gear system for me and it was smooth and quiet. The nose
gear retracted forward and when locked in place the rubber tire on the wheel acted as a
bumper when docking the seaplane.

They had installed a new propeller. It was a ground adjustable type.  Steve said
the seaplane was ready for flight testing and they were going to move the plane to the
Highland Seaplane Base on the Allegheny river in Aspinwall.

(Figure 35, Page 43 - This photo was taken by the Homestead newspaper at
Steve Kohut’s garage; Figure 36, Page 44 - a scanned copy of the original certificate)
 It was reissued May 7, 1948. These Certificates of Airworthiness have to be renewed
every year. (Figure 37, Page 44. This is a scanned copy of the original Certificate of
Operation Limitations and it was issued May 7, 1948)
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Rita Kohut Stone Collection
This photo was taken at Steve Kohut’s Garage.

The fabric was removed to install the retractable nose gear.
The new engine and a ground adjustable propeller was installed.

Figure 34

Figure 35
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Figure 36

Figure 37

Rita Kohut Stone Collection



Figure 38

Continental C85-12J Fuel injected engine
Photo from  Factory Service Manual
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In May 1948 the Curlycraft arrived at the Highland Seaplane Base on the Allegh-
eny River in Aspinwall, PA for assembly and flight testing. The exact date Steve Kohut
could not remember. This would be the first time the Curlycraft was flown since the
death of Kenneth “Curly”Lovejoy in February of 1947. The seaplane will be an am-
phibian now with the retractable landing gears and larger engine installed. (Figure 39,
Page 47) Front view of the Curlycraft. It has a clean look. (Figure 40, Page 48 - a rear
view and it has a very cluttered look;  Figure 41, Page 49 - an oblique rear view and it
has the same cluttered appearance; Figure 42, Page 50 - a close-up rear view of the
engine and cowling) The cowling is larger than the original cowling with larger openings
and this will allow for better cooling when taxiing. In this close-up you can see the
ground adjustable propeller. In the center of the photograph you will see they had
added support cables to brace the booms. They form an X. This will give more rigidity
to the booms and the tail assembly. (Figure 43, Page 51) The seaplane has been
checked out and the fuel tanks filled and ready for flight testing and waiting for the test
pilot to arrive.(Figures 44, 45, Pages 52 and 53 - the seaplane in the water) Steve said
the first day flight testing was adjusting the propeller for the best performance for climb
and cruise. (Figure 46, Page 54 - this photo is from the collection of Rita Kohut Stone;
I obtained a copy after her father had died. I have not, as of now, been able to identify
two gentleman in this photograph, the gentleman on the left in white shirt and a fur cap
and the test pilot wearing the Mae West life jacket.Of course the other two gentleman
are D. Barr Peat and Steven J.Kohut with his back to us.

Most of the that summer was testing and making small changes in the seaplane
such as making it water and air tight. They had spent considerable time on adjusting the
ground adjustable propeller and the test pilot was not happy with the performance.
By the end of the summer they had purchased an Aero-matic propeller. This propeller
will automatically select the correct pitch. (Figures 47, 48, 49 and 50, Pages 55, 56,
57 and 58. A scanned copy of the original brochure from Rita Kohut Stone collection.
An interesting note about the manufacture is that most Pittsburghers associate Kopper
Company with coke and tar and lots of smoke. The Baltimore, Maryland department
made these propellers using a composite material.

According to Steve, the Aero-matic propeller did improve the performance of
the seaplane. Figure 51 and 52 on Page 59. Copies from Steve’s home movies. There
are not many pictures of the Curlycraft in flight, most are of poor quality. I hope to
make a short video from Steve’s  home movies collection of the seaplane.
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Figure 39

Front View of the Curlycraft fully assembled, rigged and ready for flight testing.

Rita Kohut Stone collection

      This photo was taken in May 1948 in the hanger of the Highland Seaplane Base.



Figure 40

Rear View

Rita Kohut Stone Collection
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This view show all the braces and guide wires.

The guide wires and the support braces are from early aircraft design.

This original Taylorcraft airplane was designed in the early 1930s.



Oblique rear view

Rita Kohut Stone Collection
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Figure 41

This oblique view really shows all the braces and guide wires.

To remove these the seaplane would have to be totally re-digned.



Rita Kohut Stone Collection
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Figure 42

Rear view close-up.

In the center of this photo you can see the cross guide wires they had added

and in the center of this photo you can see the ground adjustable propeller.



Figure 43

Ready for flight test

Rita Kohut Stone Collection
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Figure 44

Rita Kohut Stone Collection
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The seaplane in the water for the first time since Curly Lovejoy had flown it for
the last time in the Spring of 1946



Rita Kohut Stone Collection

Figure 45
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Checking the engine and the magnetos



Figure 46

 Unknown      D.Barr Peat      Test Pilot(unknown)       Steve J. Kohut

Rita Kohut Stone Collection
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Figure 47
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Rita Kohut Stone Collection



Figure 48
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Rita Kohut Stone Collection



Figure 49
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Rita Kohut Stone Collection



Figure 50
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Rita Kohut Stone Collection



Figure 51

Figure52

Page 59

Rita Kohut Stone Collection
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The flight testing of the Curlycraft continued throughout the summer of 1948.
The Certificate of Airworthiness expired May 7th 1949 and I was told they had not
renewed it. (Figure 53, 54 and 55, Pages 61, 62 and 63 - photos of  D. Barr Peat dem-
onstrating the seaplane to some investors) Steve Kohut thought this was done in 1949;
Most potential  investors realized that the Curlycraftt needed to be totally redesigned
for the postwar market and this would require a large investment. The Curlycraft was
constructed of steel tubing and fabric. Most of the new airplanes where all metal and
seaplanes were not in demand since every little hamlet had an airfield.

         Before the Certificate of Airworthiness expired in 1949, the Curlycraft was flown
from the Highland Seaplane Base on the Allegheny River in Aspinwall, Pa. to a small
airport near Jeannette, Pa. for winter storage. This is one of the few times the seaplane
made a landing at an airport. According to Steve Kohut the test pilot said the seaplane
did not perform very well on a paved runway. One of the problems was excessive nose
wheel shimmy. I do not know if the nose gear had a shimmy dampener  Steve Kohut
had taken  home movies of the Curlycraft taking off a runway of an unknown airport.
These home movies are of  poor quality.

          Steve Kohut obtained ownership of the Curlycraft  December 23, 1952. (Figure
56, Page 64 - scanned copy of the original letter from H.J. Heinz Company) (Figure 57,
Page 65 - a copy of a original letter address to the operator of the  Jeannette Airport,
Mr. Elmer Ashbaugh to release the Curlycraft to Steven J. Kohut) According to Steve,
the  H.J. Heinz Company wanted this ship dismantled and disposed of.  He thought
maybe there was a liability issue. Steve wanted the engine for his Ercoupe.

 What happened to  the rest of the Curlycraft is a mystery. Steve Kohut told me
in 1977 the seaplane was stored at his brother Nick’s barn in McMurray, Pennsylvania.
Steve’s daughter was told by her cousin that he played on it in their barn. The farm
was sold for housing development and they do not know what happen to the seaplane.
I’m still researching this mystery.  I was told at one time that one of the investors had
the seaplane. Steve told me that was not true because most of the seaplane was dis-
mantled as H.J. Heinz had wanted.



Figure 53

Rita Kohut Stone Collection
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D. Barr Peat at the controls.

Demonstrating the Curlycraft at the Highland Seaplane Base.

If  you look you can see the Areomatic Propeller in the next 2 potos.
The blades are broad compare to the ground ajustable propeller

 in Figure 42, Page 50.
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Figure 54
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D. Barr Peat and the Curlycraft

.This is a good view of the Aeromatic Prpeller



Rita Kohut Stone collection

Figure 55

Page 63

D. Barr Peat and the Curlycraft returning from taxiing test.
Steve said this was in 1947; he was demonstrating the seaplane.



Figure 56
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From Rita Kohut Stone Collection
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Figure 57

From Rita Kohut Stone Collection
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D. Barr Peat has a new project to promote

D. Barr Peat’s new project was the Custer Channel Wing. (Figure 58, Page 67 -
scanned copy of the original  copy of the  Aero Club of Pittsburgh program for
December 6, 1951). The program, “The Shape of  Wings To Come” was to promote
the Custer Channel Wing. The program had a great turn-out. Custer Channel Wing
Figure 59 Page 68. An interesting note is that the program that was held for Kenneth
“Curly” Lovejoy and D. Barr Peat’s seaplane project was on December 6, 1945.
(Figure 24, Page 33)

I had attended the program and have an original “Taylorcraft News Release”
that was handed to me by Clifford Ball. They were mimeographed copies and mine
had faded and was exposed to some moisture. I was able to read and retype a copy
for this book. (Figure 60, Page 69) After the program I alked to Clifford Ball and he
invited me for a tour of the new Taylorcraft Plant at Conway, Pennsylvania.

In January 1952,  I called Clifford Ball and told him I would like to have a tour
of the new Taylorcraft plant. On this tour I met Willard Custer,  C. G. Taylor and
B. J. Mauro,  the president of Taylorcraft Corporation.  I was shown a new Taylorcraft
model, which was a 4 place and a tail dragger and had a very fast look to it.

I had lunch with Clifford Ball and I mentioned I was interested in working on the
Custer Channel Wing project. Clifford Ball suggested I wait until they get the contract
from the Air Force to build some models for testing. I was 27 years old at the time and
was naive about the workings of the government and the military to believe they had a
chance to get a contract. Looking back over the years, the enthusiasm these gentlemen
had for this project, I believe they were as naive as I was.

It was an interesting experience working on the Curlycraft project. I had learned
a great deal about building and developing new products. It is disappointing and sad
that all this work and the Curlycraft may have ended on a scrap heap or maybe it lies
undiscovered in somebody’s barn.
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Figure 58



Figure 59

Page 68

Custer Channel Wing

This is my copy of Photograph from Custer Channel Wing Corporation.



Taylorcraft News Release

December 6, 1951

From: Clifford Ball, Publicity Director - Taylorcraft, Inc - Conway, Pennsylvania

Taylorcraft, Inc. of Conway, Pennsylvania the first aircraft manufacture to contract with the Channel
Wing Corporation of Hagerstown, Maryland for license to manufacture both military and private aircraft.
The first type that will be rejected on an experimental basis will be a military aircraft that will comply with
Air Force specifications for liaison aircraft.

It will carry a pilot and three fully equipped combat soldiers or three litter patients and one
medical attendant. It will have at least five hour cruising range and be able to land-on and take-off
from unprepared surfaces. The useful load will exceed one thousand pounds exclusive of pilot, and
it’s normal cruising speed will be one hundred and fifty knots or better.

          Mr. Willard Custer, the designer and builder of the experimental Channel Wing says that when full
usefulness of the  Channel  Wing is applied to the aircraft it could well be that such aircraft will supercede
the airplane,  the helicopter,  and the wheeled  vehicle since it will be able to go into inaccessible places
where other means of transportation cannot go. Mr. Custer pointed out, “that the principal of the Channel
Wing is that lift is created by air which is moved over the airfoil, drawn or sucked by the propellers, thus
creating a powerful lifting force on the lifting surface without forward motion, thus being able to create
vertical lift, hover in midair, slow down and speed up at the will of the pilot”.

Mr. C. Gilbert Taylor, the creator of the light airplane, speaking for Taylorcraft said, “The Custer
Channel Wing is the first change in basic design of aircraft since Wright Brothers, and that complete new
formula for aerodynamics may have to be developed together with engineering data and new operating
rules to cover the aircraft that is now in the process of development by Taylorcraft, Inc.”.

Mr. Taylor further pointed out the usefulness of such an aircraft for the military as for instance, in
a place like Korea, it could be based very near the front, it’s ability to take off from and land on rough
ground, and it’s ability to hover for rescue or observation purposes. It would make an ideal ambulance
and it could be used for combat too, since it has high speed for quick approach and fast get away, with a
rate of climb of 1000 feet per minute or better.
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(This is a retype memo, the original was faded)

Figure 60



Kenneth Frick (Curly) Lovejoy

  Curly Lovejoy was a very interesting individual who was born in 1897. His
father was secretary of Carnegie Steel Company. His flying career started during World
War I with the US Army Signal Corp as an aerial gunner instructor. After the war he did
barnstorming. Kenneth “Curly” Lovejoy was Clifford Ball’s first airmail pilot. He flew
a Waco 9 called Miss McKeesport in 1927. Curly Lovejoy flew airmail from downtown
Pittsburgh, I’m not sure of the date (some people think it might be in 1938). (Figures
61 and 62, Pages 71 - photographs of that event)

Kenneth “Curly” Lovejoy operated a flying school at Bettis Field call  “Lovejoy
School of Aviation”.  He gave Kenny Scholter his first flying lesson; another famous
student was Helen Ritchey. For more reading and information on his flying career,
check these web sites or type the following names at your favorite search engine:
D.Barr Peat,  Kenneth “Curly” Lovejoy, Clifford Ball and Bettis Field.

Page 70

Here is great a book about early aviation history in Wester Pennsylvania.
This book can be purchased from Amazon.com.

 Google Books has a limited preview of this book.
  “A Place in the Sky”: A History of the Arnold Palmer Regional Airport and Aviation in

Southwestern Pennsylvania, 1919-2001 (Hardcover)
by David Wilmes (Editor), Mary Ann Mogus, Richard David Wissolik (Editor)

Jim Hartman compiled a great article on “Pittsburgh’s First Airfield” for the Homestead
& Mifflim Township Historical Society.  The site has a new name and location:

                                   www.mifflintownship.org
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Kenneth “Curly” Lovejoy      Clifford Ball

               Unknown   Postal Official   Col.Harry C. Fry  Curly Lovejoy  Clifford Ball

Figure 61

Figure 62
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D. Barr Peat

D. Barr Peat had a long and interesting flying career. As his friend Curly
Lovejoy, he spent most of his time promoting aviation. Barr Peat, with the financial
help of Clifford Ball, opened the Bettis Field and in 1925 they had their first air show.
D. Barr Peat knew everybody in the aviation and the political field. With his and
Clifford Ball’s political connections they obtained a contract to operate air mail ser-
vices from Bettis Field to Cleveland, Ohio. (Figure 63, Page 73- Newspaper clipping
of the 18th anniversary of their first airmail flight)

D. Barr Peat did work with us on the 1945 stage of the Curlycraft when he was
not out locating supplies. He said Shorty Moore and I were spoiled with all our tools.
In his early days of flying all he needed was pair of pliers and a spool of safety wire.
He was a good mechanic and he had a lot of input on this project. In  1947 I did re-
ceive a call from him to look over some drawings, the drawings were of the Custer
Channel Wing  and he wanted some models made.  The last time I saw  Barr Peat was
at the Rostraver Airport on the arrival of the replica of  “The Spirit of St. Louis” on
June 29, 1977. (Figure 64, Page 73) I was at the same event and presented a check to
my friend Verne Jobst, the pilot for their expenses.

 D. Barr Peat’s daughter Carolyn Peat had written a very good article of her
father’s life as a pioneer aviator and a promoter of aviation. This article can be read at
“EarlyAvaitors” http://www.earlyaviators.com/ebettis5.htm

          More of D. Barr Peat’s carrer in aviation can be obtain at the same sites as Curly
Lovejoy, Clifford Ball and the Bettis Airfield. These aviation’s pioneers carrers have
parallelled. When you read about one you will read about the other.

Want to read more about D. Barr Peat’s newest project the Custer Channel Wing
and Taylorcraft Corporation this can be done by searching  under Custer Channel or
Taylorcraft.
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Verne Jobst       Don “Curly” Shumaker

My Photo Rostraver Airport June 29, 1977

Figure 63

Figure 64

From the Pittsbudgh Post Gazette



        Steve was the head mechanic on the Curlycraft project. He was  born a mechanic.
His success was that he was good at listening and he knew how to get the most out of
people. He had great respect for Shorty Moore and his knowledge of aircraft design
and construction. Steve always referred to me as the “Kid” or “Curly Junior”. Steve
was only about 14  years older than me. Shorty was 15 years older than me so I was
the kid on this project . I liked the way they would suggest on how to do something.
“Maybe you ought to try it this way”.Shorty and I both had schooling in aircraft weld-
ing; with Steve coaching, we became better welders. Steve was the only welder that
could light his pipe with his torch and talk and not lose any heat in his weld.

 I first met Steve at Matta’s garage in Braddock and our friendship lasted until
he moved to eastern Pennsylvania to live with his daughter. I will always remember the
story that he and his wife Margaret would tell about the trips they made in their 1945
Ercoupe. His wife, Margaret, was a licensed pilot. Steve told me the reason he had not
taken his pilot test, he was afraid he would not pass the test. Anyway, Margaret was a
better pilot, according to Steve. In 1979, my partner, Harry Lapham, and I were restor-
ing a 1945 Ercoupe and Steve was a lot of help. Every time I visited Steve he would
have some parts for our Ercoupe.

Steve had worked on the Custer Channel Wing when D. Barr Peat was promot-
ing the plane. Steve has a lot of home movies on the Custer Channel Wing and with the
Curlycraft. Steve had his home movies put on a video tape. I’m in the process of
editing the tape. They are not of good quality because a lot was lost through time and
transferring. I am planning to make a short streaming video that will be accessed from
the electronic version of this book. Steve was born in 1912 and died 2000. I was dis-
appointed in researching for this book that there was very little information on Steve
Kohut’s contribution to aviation.

Knowing Steve, I think it didn’t matter because he enjoyed his work and friends.
(Figure 65, Page 75 - copy of newspaper article about his life and work in aviation.)
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Steven J. Kohut
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Robert “Shorty” Moore

I was first introduced to Robert “Shorty” Moore at Bob Flinn’s Hobby Shop in
downtown Pittsburgh. He was working at the Wilkinsburg Boys Club. Bob Flinn
told Shorty I was building a radio controlled model airplane. They suggested I should
attend the  Academy of Model Aeronautics (AGMAA)  meeting at the downtown
Pittsburgh YMCA. (Figure 66 and 67, Page 77 - copy of the original menu and pro-
gram) Shorty Moore invited me to stop by the Wilkinsburg Boys Club for a visit.

One evening I stopped to see Shorty and I took my model airplane with me. I
was really surprised with the size of his class and shop. He had about 15 or 16 model
builders in his class. What impressed me was a model he had of an uncompleted Piper
J3 Cub. It was about 1/4 scale and he had started this at college for a class project.
The fuselage was built of steel tubing and constructed from drawings he had made.
The wings were constructed the same as the original J3 Cub. The welding and the
workmanship of the fuselage and wings were flawless. This project was in need of a
suitable engine and at that time none was available. Shorty said if he found an engine I
could help with the radio control system.

Shorty had a lot of suggestions for my model; This was a free flight model and it
had too much stability. With Shorty’s help I rebuilt my model and had lots of fun flying
it. Shorty and I went with friends to model airplane contests all over Eastern Ohio and
Western Pennsylvania, which were great fun. The summer was ending and I was mak-
ing plans for school and Shorty said he was looking at some job offers. We had no
idea that we would be asked to work on the Curly Lovejoy seaplane project. Shorty
had a job interview and I applied for school. We put all that on hold so we could work
on this project. After we completed the project, Shorty moved out of town and I went
back to school and we lost contact.

Robert “Shorty” Moore attended Ohio State University in Columbus, Ohio and
graduated with a degree in aeronautical engineering. He learned to fly and  received his
Private pilot license. Shorty and his classmates had rigged a Piper J3 so he could reach
the controls. After graduation he did not fly much while working at Wright-Patterson
Field in Dayton, Ohio. He worked on projects that made use of his small stature and
his aeronautical engineering schooling. Shorty shared a story about crawling all through
the B29 looking for structural and control problems.
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Figure 66

IGMAA Program and Menue

November 18, 1944

Figure 67

IGMAA Program and Menue
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Don “Curly” Shumaker

I started building solid models of airplanes when I was 11 years old. My
neighbor gave me magazines and loaned me books with pictures of the great flying
boats. I kept the magazines for many years until they got misplaced while I was in the
Army. I still have another collection of books on flying boats.

In the summer of 1942 I worked for Gardner Display on Melwood Street in
Pittsburgh. They made displays, display cases and counters for department stores. For
the war effort they made a wide range of products. They made models of military
aircraft to use for aircraft identification training and models of Army trucks, tanks and
jeeps which were for use on planning boards. My most interesting work was building
cockpit mock-ups for the Grumman Wildcat and  the Avenger. (Figures 68 and 69,
Page 79) They were full size. They used full scaled photographs of the instruments
 and  glued them on to the instrument panels and they had a throttle and control stick.
Cockpits were as real as it could be for training without using critical materials.

        In August 1943 I was injured in an accident while in the Army and was discharged.
I went to work at night for Westinghouse in East Pittsburgh as an electrical tester and
mechanical inspector on the Manhattan Project. (Figure 70, Page 80 - a scanned copy
of the certificate from the Army Corp of Engineers) We had no idea what we were
working on.  I described to one of my college professor what we tested and he said it
was a “Calutron”.  If you are curious what it is type “Calutron” at your favorite search
engine.

During the day I went to aircraft mechanic school.  In August 1945,  I was laid
off at Westinghouse and began working on Curly Lovejoy’s seaplane project in
October. When my part of the seaplane project was completed  I worked part time as
draftsman, machinist and model builder while going to school.

I  married and worked as a sales engineers for a company in Johnstown,
Pennsylvania. They manufactured planetary gear reducers of various sizes from
3 inch to 60 inch. (Figure 71, Page 81 - the smallest gear reducer and Moon Vehicle;
Figure 72 Page 81- the largest gear reducer)
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Figure 68
This site has some great photos of a recent restored Wildcat.

Kiwi Aircraft Images

Figure 69
This site has some great photos of recent restored Avenger.

Warbird Resource Group.
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Figure 70



Special Reducer for the HubTraction Drive for Moon Vehicle

This unit has a 3 inch ring gear

               Figure 71

Page 81
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Figure 72

Mr. Frank Mardis president, looking over the largest planetary gear reducer we made.
This unit has a 60 inch ring gear and it was made for a river dredge.

Photograph from:

 Crichton Manufacturing Company, Johnstown, PA
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I kept my interest in aviation and worked on a rotary engine conversion for
light planes. (Figures 73, 74 and 75, Page 84 - Drawings of the single rotor version) We
had put the dual  rotor version on the back burner because of the problems we had
with the single rotor version. My recent project was a radio controlled  model, a cross
between Bill Lear’s Fan and Molt Taylor’s Mini-Imp. It would be powered by electric
motors and I was researching fuel cells for a power source.

With a few friends we started  EAA chapter 633 in Johnstown, Pennsylvania.
Harry Lapham, my friend and partner, and I restored a 1945 Ercoupe. (Figure 76 and
77, Page 85 - photos of the Ercoupe.) We had published a newsletter on our Rotary
Engine Conversion and were asked to put on a program for Altoona, Pennsylvania
EAA chapter 400. They held that meeting at the Blue Knob airport.

When Harry Lapham and I arrived at their meeting, I was introduced to the
chapter president, Paul Nuss. After talking to Paul, he thought I might know his father,
who was coming to the meeting later along with his mother. After the business meeting
and coffee and donuts, as Harry was setting up for our program, I noticed a man
coming in the door. I recognized him from H.J. Heinz Company but hadn’t seen him
for some 30 years. This was Paul Nuss’s father, Mundy Nuss. At H.J.Heinz Company
he was in charge of welding and tooling for the H.J. Heinz glider division and now has
an Airco welding supply business in the Altoona area.

       On another occasion, Harry Lapham and I went to a fly-in chicken barbecue at a
private field in Woodbury, Pennsylvania. (Figures 78, Page 86; and Figure 79 Page 87)
This field was located about half way between Altoona and Everett. Mundy Nuss was
there and I sat with him and we talked about old times. He inquired about the Curly’s
seaplane. Mundy Nuss told me he was a Taylorcraft dealer before the war and he sold
Curly Lovejoy and D.Barr Peat a wrecked  1938 Taylorcraft. This is the one that  Barr
Peat and Curly Lovejoy used to make their seaplane.

“What a Small World”
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Frint wiew

You will notice the oilpan legs were removed
and the engine was rotated 90 degrees.

The engine will be a dry sump system

Figure 73

                     Figure 74

                         Rear View

                                                                  Figure75

                              Cross section side view
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Figure 76

Harry Lapham and I did a complete restoration on this 1945 Ercoupe 415C
Harry checking the engine and building engine time before

installing wings for test flight

Figure 77

My granddaughter, Melissa, and I doing taxiing tests.
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Figure 78

Balloon inflated and ready for tethered rides. This is one of many events
at E.A.A. Chapter 400  fly-in and barbeque held at Baker-Sell farm and

private air field. It was hosted by Sarah Sell and family in July 1978.
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Photograph taken from hot air balloon. Notice airplanes in “T” hangers.
Mrs. Sarah Sell said at one time her husband and sons all had airplanes and

 flew from their farm. These annual events had as many as 20 aircrafts and over
150 guests. These great family events went on for almost 20 years.

Figure 79
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William Matta

       William Matta owned and operated an auto dealership and garage in Braddock,
Pennsylvania where the final work and assembly of the seaplane was done . On the
second floor he had a shop for fabricating seats and seat frames for the U.S. Navy.
They were for the Grumman Wildcat, Avenger and the Vought Corsair.

        Bill Matta was a great help in the Curlycraft project. He allowed us to have
access to his shop and the use of his drill press, band saw, bench grinder, and he
helped us out when we needed any supplies. I had spent hours in his shop and I
appreciated it and so did Steve and Curly. It made our work a lot easier.

         William Matta started Matta Broadcasting Company and one of the first FM
stations, WLOA 96.9, in the Pittsburgh area. This operation was located in his old
second-floor fabricating shop.
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Summary

All the photographs, documents and the model from my collection and Steven J.
Kohut collection used in this book were donated to Senator John Heinz Pittsburgh Re-
gional History Center and can be viewed by the public. A hard copy of this book can be
obtained from the History Center.

If any reader of this brief story of the Curlycraft has any information, comments
or correction, please contact me at my e-mail address listed below. I would like to
 identify all the people in the photographs that have not been identified. I would like to
know  the whereabouts of the negatives and photographs from E.L. Shryock collection.
The address on the photos is 1307 Woodlawn Ave. Wilkinsburg, Pa.. The dates on the
photos are 1938, 1939 and 1940. I’m looking for information on photos taken by the
Pittsburgh Press at the Pittsburgh Press Air Shows. I would like to know if Henry Ward,
the aviation editor for the Pittsburgh Press, had a private photograph collection of the
aviation events that he covered.

email: doshu@comcast.net
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                        For Further Reading

High Frontier: A History of Aeronautics in Pennsylvania by
William F. Trimble, University of Pittsburgh Press, 1982.

The Airways to Everywhere: A history of All American Aviation, 1937/ 1953 by
W. David Lewis and William F. Trimble, University of Pittsburgh Press, 1988.

Pittsburgh History, A magazine of the City and Its Region.
The winter 1993/1994 edition by Brian Butko, Paul Roberts, William F. Trimble.
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This photograph was over-looked and it is the only one of the Curlycraft at an
airport. This photograph is from Rita Kohut Stone collection and the date was 1948.

The pilot and the airport loation is unknown as of now.

To view the Curlycraft flying: Click here

The video scenes are of the amphibian version
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      Fred Weick’s W-1

                     The Curlycraft and the W-1 had similar design features.  Both were “pushers” and had twin vertical fins.

          The W-1 was designed and built in the early 1930’s to demonstrate Weick’s integrated control system.

         You can get more information on Fred Weick by typing his name at any search engine.

Photo from  NASA






